
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Bankston

AGENDA October 05, 2016

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Bankston

Presentation Chairman Chester Bankston and Trustee Bill Hullander will honor David Stone for 34 years of
dedicated service to The Honors Course. Agenda Session Only September 28, 2016.

Minutes Recessed Meeting - September 14, 2016

Minutes Agenda Session - September 14, 2016

Minutes Regular Meeting - September 21, 2016

Report Trustee Monthly Report August 2016

Report Trustee Excess Fee Report August 2016

Report Criminal Court Clerk's Report - April, May, June, July and August 2016

Res. No. 1016-1 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions, the bonds and oaths
of notaries previously elected, the oath of Chairman of the Hamilton County Board of
Commissioners, the oaths of Deputy Assessors of Property, and the oaths of Deputy Sheriffs.

Res. No. 1016-2 A Resolution to accept the bid of Jake Marshall Service, Inc. for $51,925.00, for the installation
of a Variable Refrigerant Volume (VRF) type split HVAC system at the Hamilton County Courts
building for the Hamilton County Engineering Department and authorizing the County Mayor to
sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1016-3 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to execute a deed conveying Hamilton County's
interest in certain property acquired through a previous delinquent tax sale and jointly owned by
Hamilton County and the City of Chattanooga.

Res. No. 1016-4 A Resolution to Rezone from A-1 Agricultural District & R-2 Residential District to R-1 Single
Family Residential District, properties located at 3503, 3603 & 3635 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.

Res. No. 1016-5 A Resolution Granting a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development
of properties at 3503, 3603 & 3635 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.

Res. No. 1016-6 A Resolution to accept a continuation contract between the Sheriff’s Office and the State of
Tennessee’s Department of Human Services for a child support program for the period July 1,
2016 through June 30, 2017.

Res. No. 1016-7 A Resolution accepting the bid of Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc. for two (2) Type I Medium
Duty Ambulances amounting to $404,918.00 for Emergency Medical Services and authorizing
the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1016-8 A Resolution approving a software update and support contract for Cityworks from Azteca
Systems, Inc. for one (1) year, beginning November 11, 2016, through November 10, 2017, for
the Geographic Information Systems Department amounting to $41,250.00 and authorizing the
County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1016-9 A Resolution to accept the bid of Delta Structural Technology, LLC, for $321,699.00, for the
repairs at the Hamilton County Parking Garage  for the Engineering Department and authorizing
the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 1016-10 A Resolution approving the expenditure of twenty five thousand dollars ($25,000.00) from line of
credit/bond funds to assist with the construction of a restroom facility and concession for the
athletic complex at East Hamilton Middle/High School.



ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

SEPTEMBER 14, 2016 
 

1 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  September 14, 2016 

 

 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 14th day of September, 2016, a Recessed 

Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

 Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. Commissioner Mackey was absent. 

Total present – 7.  Total absent -1. 

 

 Chairman Bankston announced that Commissioner Mackey would be absent for 

today’s meeting.  

 

 Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

SEPTEMBER 14, 2016 
 

2 
 

 Commissioner Graham introduced Chaplain Bruce Daugherty, Woodland Park 

Baptist Church, who gave the invocation. Commissioner Graham led in the pledge to 

the flag. 

 

 County Clerk Bill Knowles reported that he received copies of letters from Mayor 

Jim Coppinger and Circuit Court Clerk Larry Henry. The  correspondence was 

addressed to Finance Director Al Kiser declining compensation specified in Resolution 

No. 916-8A relating to their past service as Chairman and/or Chairman Pro Tempore of 

the Board of Commissioners. Both officials specified that they were relieving Hamilton 

County of any obligation to pay them extra compensation permitted by the 

aforementioned Resolution.  He stated if there was no objection the letters would be 

filed with the Clerk’s office.  No objection was voiced. 

 

  

  



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

SEPTEMBER 14, 2016 
 

3 
 

 Being no further business Chairman Bankston declared the recessed meeting 

adjourned.    

 

 

     Respectfully submitted: 

 

 
      
     _______________________________ 
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Approved: 

 
______ 
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 14, 2016 
 
 

 1 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  September 14, 2016 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 14th day of September, 2016, an Agenda 

Preparation Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and 

held at the Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, 

when the following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston.  The Chairman had previously 

announced that Commissioner Mackey would be absent. Total present - 7.  Total 

absent – 1. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 14, 2016 
 
 

 2 

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered 

as follows: 

• An Order of Designation to the Planning Commission would be submitted as a 
matter of record. 

• Resolution No. 916-21 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  
This required no committee assignment. 

• Resolution Nos. 916-27A, 916-27B, 916-28 through 916-31, 916-32A, 916-32B, 
916-37, and 916-38 were assigned to the Zoning Committee.  

• Resolution Nos. 916-33 through 916-36 were assigned to the Finance 
Committee, chaired by Commissioner Boyd.  

• Resolution Nos. 916-22 through 916-26 were heard by a Committee of the 
Whole.  

  

Chairman Bankston stated that Resolution Nos. 916-22 through 916-26 would 

now be heard by the Committee of the Whole. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 916-22 

 

This Resolution appropriates $2,500.00 from general fund discretionary monies 

to Highland Park Neighborhood Association, as allotted to District 4. It was noted the 

funds will assist with their art program.  

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 14, 2016 
 
 

 3 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 916-23 

 

This Resolution approves a contract between Hamilton County, Tennessee, and 

the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA) for the Hamilton County Emergency Medical 

Services Department to respond to emergencies at TVA’s Raccoon Mountain Pump 

Storage Plant.  

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s request for clarification, County Attorney 

Rheubin Taylor stated that the plant is partially located in Marion County, and TVA has 

asked Hamilton County to provide its EMS Department to respond to TVA-related 

medical emergencies that may occur within the facility.  It was noted that TVA will pay 

all expenses.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 916-24 

 

 Commissioner Boyd spoke regarding this item, which appropriates $10,000.00 

from general fund discretionary monies to Want To Foundation, Inc., as allotted to 

District 8. It was noted that the funds will assist the non-profit with the expansion of their 

mentoring program, which helps prepare high risk youth for entering the workforce.    

 

There were no questions from Commissioners. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 14, 2016 
 
 

 4 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 916-25 

 

 County Engineer and Administrator of Public Works Todd Leamon spoke 

regarding this item, which approves the application to the Federal Lands and Access 

Program (FLAP) and accepts reimbursement to resurface and upgrade guardrails on 

Sequoyah Access Road for the Highway Department. He explained the project consists 

of resurfacing and restriping 4.1 miles of Sequoyah Access Road, and replacement of 

12,843 feet of guardrail with 40 end treatments. The total project estimate is 

$1,500.000; 80% of the total will be funded by the Federal Lands Access Program 

(FLAP), and 20% from the requesting department.  

  

There were no questions from Commissioners. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 916-26 

 

Director of Hamilton County Board of Education Christie Jordan spoke regarding 

this item, which amends the federal school projects fund budget by adding $484,610 to 

the FY 2016-2017 budget, amends the self-funded projects budget by appropriating the 

fund balance of $130,580 and additional revenue of $881 to the FY 2016-2017 budget, 

and amends the general purpose fund budget by adding $3,485,000 and additional 

revenue of $347,000 to the FY 2016-2017 budget. Ms. Jordan explained that the funds 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 14, 2016 
 
 

 5 

were mainly for three projects including repairs at Westview Elementary School, the 

system wide telecommunications project, and the property purchase at Ooltewah 

Elementary School. It was noted that the Board of Education must seek approval from 

the County legislative body for any budget amendments. 

 

 In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Ms. Jordan clarified that this 

Resolution was amending the Department of Education’s general purpose fund balance.  

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission.  

 

 Commissioner Fields announced that the Hamilton County Records Committee 

will be meeting on September 21st at 8:00 am in the Mayor’s Conference Room.  

 

 Commissioner Smedley announced a joint meeting with City Councilman Larry 

Grohn on Monday, September 19th at Christ United Methodist Church at 6:00 pm. The 

meeting will focus on growth within their districts.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

SEPTEMBER 14, 2016 
 
 

 6 

 Commissioner Smedley announced that the Zoning Committee would be in the 

adjacent conference room immediately following the Agenda Session. 

 

It was noted that the Finance Committee would meet in the Commission Room 

immediately following the Agenda Session.  

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 

 

Being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting adjourned 

until Wednesday, September 21st at 9:30 AM. 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

Approved:     

__________   
Date      Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

1 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  September 21, 2016 
 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 21st day of September, 2016, a Regular 

Meeting of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Chester Bankston, Chairman. County 

Clerk Bill Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, 

constituting a quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Beck, Commissioner 

Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Fields, Commissioner Graham, 

Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Bankston. Total present 

– 8. Total absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff and County Attorney Rheubin Taylor. 

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

2 

 

Commissioner Graham introduced Pastor Elton L. Young, Mount Paran 

Missionary Baptist Church, who gave the invocation. Commissioner Graham led in the 

pledge to the flag. 

 

PRESENTATION – CERTIFICATE OF CONGRATULATIONS – RYAN MARTIN 

 

 Commissioner Fairbanks presented Ryan Martin with a certificate of 

congratulations for winning the World Boxing Council’s Continental Americas lightweight 

title and for his outstanding community service assisting the Chattanooga Y-Cap 

program in various capacities. Commissioner Fairbanks highlighted a few of the many 

awards and accolades Mr. Martin has received throughout his boxing career, which 

began at the Chattanooga based Y-Cap boxing club “Jabbin’ for Jesus”.  

 

Mr. Martin, a graduate of Central High School, is speaking at the school today. 

His mother, Rhonda Albert, and mentors Joe Smith, Y-Cap Regional Director, and Andy 

Smith, Y-Cap Program Director and Head Boxing Coach joined Mr. Martin at the 

podium. Commissioner Fairbanks presented Mr. Martin with a plaque to congratulate 

him on his dedication, discipline, and exceptional sportsmanship, and for bringing 

prestige and recognition to Hamilton County with his astounding record of 16 wins and 0 

losses. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

3 

 

 Mr. Martin thanked Commissioners for the honor. He noted that while living in 

Cleveland, Ohio, he follows Chattanooga news through social media. He spoke about 

the string of violence in Chattanooga, and stated that both his younger brother and high 

school friend were victims of shooting violence within the last year. He stated that he 

wants to inspire young people to make better choices regardless of their backgrounds 

or circumstances, and to work hard to achieve what you want in life. At this time, Mr. 

Martin was given a standing ovation.   

 

 Commissioner Mackey called Mr. Martin a great ambassador for our community. 

He stated that discretionary funds are useful to help support programs like the Y-Cap 

Boxing Club that aim to reduce violence in the community.  

 

 Commissioner Smedley congratulated Mr. Martin on his hard work and 

accomplishments. She thanked Commissioner Fairbanks, Mr. Smith, and Ms. Albert for 

bringing his story to the attention of the Commission.  

 

 Commissioner Beck commended Mr. Martin for his hard work. He stated that Mr. 

Martin would not be where he is today without the guidance of his mother. He spoke 

about the importance of having mentors, and thanked Mr. Smith for his positive 

influence on youth in the community. He also thanked Commissioner Fairbanks for 

recognizing Mr. Martin’s accomplishments.   



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

4 

 

 Commissioner Graham echoed Commissioner Beck’s sentiments, and thanked 

Mr. Martin for sharing his story.  

 

 Chairman Bankston encouraged Mr. Martin to continue to be a positive influence 

for youth in the community.  

 

 Joe Smith thanked Commissioner Fairbanks for bringing recognition to Mr. 

Martin. He stated that his son, Andy Smith, coached Mr. Martin throughout his time in 

the Y-Cap Boxing Club, and asked him to share a story about his experience in the 

program.  

 

 Mayor Coppinger thanked Commissioner Fairbanks for bringing Mr. Martin’s 

story to Commissioners. He also thanked Joe and Andy Smith for being leaders and 

role models for countless youth in the community. He commended Mr. Martin for the 

choices he has made, and encouraged him to keep spreading his message throughout 

the community.  

 

 At this time, Mr. Martin, Ms. Albert, and Joe and Andy Smith shook hands with 

members of the Commission.    

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

5 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, that 

the minutes of the Recessed Meeting of August 31, 2016, the Agenda Preparation 

Session of August 31, 2016, and the Regular Meeting of September 7, 2016, be 

approved, treat same as read, made a matter of record and filed. The foregoing Motion 

was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Total present – 8. Total absent – 0. 

Total “Aye” votes – 8.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

ORDER OF DESIGNATION 

 

 An Order was recorded designating Todd Leamon to sit as the County Mayor’s 

representative on the Planning Commission for the meeting of September 12, 2016.  

  

RESOLUTION NO. 916-21 A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 

NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, THE BOND AND OATH OF ASSESSOR OF 

PROPERTY, THE OATHS OF DEPUTY ASSESSORS OF PROPERTY, THE OATHS 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

6 

 

OF MEMBERS OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION, THE BOND 

OF HAMILTON COUNTY 911 EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS DISTRICT AND 

THE OATHS OF DEPUTY SHERIFFS. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 916-21. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner 

Beck was absent. Total present – 7. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 7.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Bankston reported that Resolution Nos. 916-22 through 916-26 were 

heard by a Committee of the Whole.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-22 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

HIGHLAND PARK NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION IN THE AMOUNT OF TWO 

THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS ($2,500.00) FROM GENERAL FUND 

DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT FOUR. 

 
 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

7 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Mackey, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 916-22. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call 

vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting 

as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and 

Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Beck was absent. Total present – 7. Total 

absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 6.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. Commissioner Graham 

announced that he was present.  

 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 916-23 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE ENTERING INTO OF 

A CONTRACT BETWEEN HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, AND THE 

TENNESSEE VALLEY AUTHORITY (“TVA”) FOR THE HAMILTON COUNTY 

EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT TO RESPOND TO 

EMERGENCIES AT TVA’S RACCOON MOUNTAIN STORAGE PUMP PLANT.  

 
 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 916-23. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Beck and Commissioner Mackey 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

8 

 

were absent. Total present – 6. Total absent – 2. Total “Aye” votes – 6.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Bankston reported that Commissioner Beck and Commissioner 

Mackey would be absent for the remainder of today’s meeting.  

 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 916-24 A RESOLUTION MAKING AN APPROPRIATION TO 

WANT TO FOUNDATION, INC., IN THE AMOUNT OF TEN THOUSAND DOLLARS 

($10,000.00) FROM GENERAL FUND DISCRETIONARY MONIES, AS ALLOTTED 

TO DISTRICT EIGHT.  

 
 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, to 

adopt Resolution No. 916-24. The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call 

vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and voting 

as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. 

Commissioner Beck and Commissioner Mackey were absent. Total present – 6. Total 

absent – 2. Total “Aye” votes – 5.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. Commissioner Graham 

announced that he was present.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

9 

 

Commissioner Boyd reported that Gary Highfield, Want To Foundation, Inc. 

Founder and Director, was present at today’s meeting. He commended Mr. Highfield for 

being a mentor for high-risk youth in the community.  

 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 916-25 A RESOLUTION APPLYING TO THE FEDERAL LANDS 

ACCESS PROGRAM (FLAP) AND ACCEPTING REIMBURSEMENT TO 

RESURFACE AND UPGRADE GUARDRAILS ON SEQUOYAH ACCESS ROAD FOR 

THE HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 

SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION.  

 
 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Fields, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 916-25. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”,  Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Beck and Commissioner Mackey 

were absent. Total present – 6. Total absent – 2. Total “Aye” votes – 6.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 916-26 A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE SCHOOLS FEDERAL 

PROJECTS FUND BUDGET BY ADDING $484,610 TO THE FY 2016-2017 BUDGET; 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

10 

 

TO AMEND THE SELF-FUNDED PROJECTS FUND BUDGET BY APPROPRIATING 

FUND BALANCE OF $130,580 AND ADDITIONAL REVENUE OF $881 TO THE FY 

2016-2017 BUDGET; TO AMEND THE GENERAL PURPOSE FUND BUDGET BY 

APPROPRIATING FUND BALANCE OF $3,485,000 AND ADDITIONAL REVENUE 

OF $347,000 TO THE FY 2016-2017 BUDGET. 

 
 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 916-26. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Beck and Commissioner Mackey 

were absent. Total present – 6. Total absent – 2. Total “Aye” votes – 6.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 916-27A, 916-27B, 916-28 

through 916-31, 916-32A, and 916-32B be considered together at this time.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-27A A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM A-1 

AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT TO R-1 SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, 

PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 10317, 10327 AND 10331 EAST BRAINERD ROAD  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

11 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-27B A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM A-1 

AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT TO R-1 SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, 

PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 10317, 10327 AND 10331 EAST BRAINERD ROAD  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-28 A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS 

PERMIT FOR A RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR PROPERTIES 

LOCATED AT 10317, 10327 AND 10331 EAST BRAINERD ROAD 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-29 A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-2A RURAL 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO C-3 GENERAL BUSINESS COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 8875 HIGHWAY 58 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-30 A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL PERMIT FOR A 

SHORT TERM VACATION RENTAL FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 6308 BAY 

LANE 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-31 A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM A-1 

AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT TO R-1 SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT, 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 9120 LOVELL ROAD  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

12 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-32A A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-2A RURAL 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO C-3 GENERAL BUSINESS COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, 

PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 5007 AND 5011 ORCHARD DRIVE  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-32B A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM R-2A RURAL 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO C-3 GENERAL BUSINESS COMMERCIAL DISTRICT, 

PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 5007 AND 5011 ORCHARD DRIVE 

 

 Commissioner Smedley provided details regarding Resolution Nos. 916-27A, 

916-27B, and 916-28, and stated that the Zoning Committee reviewed and 

recommended approval of Resolution Nos. 916-27B and 916-28.  

 

 Administrator of Public Works and County Engineer Todd Leamon stated that the 

Regional Planning Commission recommended certain conditions listed in Resolution 

No. 916-27B, including the completion of a traffic analysis study.   

 

 Commissioner Smedley thanked Mr. Pratt, the applicant for being proactive and 

organizing a community meeting. It was noted that no opposition was present during 

today’s meeting. 

 

  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

13 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 916-27B and 916-28. The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner 

Beck and Commissioner Mackey were absent. Total present – 6. Total absent – 2. Total 

“Aye” votes – 6.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 Commissioner Smedley provided details regarding Resolution No. 916-29, and 

stated that the Zoning Committee reviewed and recommended that the item be denied. 

It was noted that the applicant was not present at last week’s committee meeting or 

during today’s meeting. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

deny Resolution No. 916-29. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously denied on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Beck and Commissioner Mackey 

were absent. Total present – 6. Total absent – 2. Total “Aye” votes – 6.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

14 

 

 Commissioner Smedley provided details regarding Resolution No. 916-30, and 

stated that the Zoning Committee reviewed and recommended approval.   

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 916-30. 

 

 Commissioner Fields asked if there was any opposition present at today’s 

meeting. There was none.  

 

 The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Beck and Commissioner Mackey were absent. Total 

present – 6. Total absent – 2. Total “Aye” votes – 6.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 Commissioner Graham reminded applicants William and Gloria Banks, who were 

present in the audience, that it was their responsibility to follow up with the County 

Trustee regarding collection of the Hotel-Motel Tax.  

 

 Commissioner Smedley provided details regarding Resolution No. 916-31, and 

stated that the Zoning Committee reviewed and recommended approval. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

15 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 916-31. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Beck and Commissioner Mackey 

were absent. Total present – 6. Total absent – 2. Total “Aye” votes – 6.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

  

Commissioner Smedley provided details regarding Resolution Nos. 916-32A and 

916-32B, and stated that the Zoning Committee reviewed and recommended approval 

of Resolution No. 916-32B, which included certain conditions recommended by the 

Regional Planning Commission. It was noted that no opposition was present.  

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Graham, to 

adopt Resolution No. 916-32B. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, 

“Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner Beck and Commissioner Mackey 

were absent. Total present – 6. Total absent – 2. Total “Aye” votes – 6.  Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

16 

 

 Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 916-33 through 916-36 be 

considered together at this time.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-33 A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A DONATION OF AN 

AUTOMATIC EXTERNAL DEFIBRILATOR (AED) WITH AN ESTIMATED RETAIL 

VALUE OF $1,795 FROM THE FIREHOUSE SUBS PUBLIC SAFETY FOUNDATION 

TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-34 A RESOLUTION TO RELINQUISH HAMILTON COUNTY’S 

INTEREST IN A 1991 FORD F-250 TRUCK CO-TITLED WITH SALE CREEK FIRE & 

RESCUE UPON CERTAIN TERMS AND CONDITIONS.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-35 A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF 

GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE PERIOD OF AUGUST 1, 2016, THROUGH 

AUGUST 31, 2016, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION.  

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-36 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR 

ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES 

DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT TO ACCEPT A CONTRACT AMENDMENT WITH THE TENNESSEE 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH FOR THE PROVISION OF WIC (WOMEN, INFANTS 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

17 

 

AND CHILDREN) FOR THE TIME PERIOD OCTOBER 1, 2015 TO SEPTEMBER 30, 

2019 IN THE AMOUNT OF $6,525,700.00 AND TO DECREASE THE EXPENSE AND 

REVENUE BUDGETS BY $9,900.00. 

 

 Commissioner Boyd, Chairman of the Finance Committee, provided details 

regarding Resolution Nos. 916-33 through 916-36, and stated that the Finance 

Committee reviewed and recommended approval.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 916-33 through 916-36. The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner 

Beck and Commissioner Mackey were absent. Total present – 6. Total absent – 2. Total 

“Aye” votes – 6.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Bankston asked that Resolution Nos. 916-37 and 916-38 be 

considered together at this time.  

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

18 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-37 A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE “MASTER LIST OF 

ROADS AND SPEED LIMITS” SO AS TO ACCEPT THE FOLLOWING DISTRICT 

ROAD AND TO ESTABLISH A SPEED LIMIT THEREFOR: SKYBROOK DRIVE AS 

EXTENDED. 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 916-38 A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE “MASTER LIST OF 

ROADS AND SPEED LIMITS” SO AS TO ACCEPT THE FOLLOWING DISTRICT 

ROAD AND TO ESTABLISH A SPEED LIMIT THEREFORE: HAVEN PORT LANE.  

 

 Commissioner Smedley provided details regarding Resolution Nos. 916-37 and 

916-38, and stated that the Zoning Committee reviewed and recommended approval.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Smedley, seconded by Commissioner Fairbanks, 

to adopt Resolution Nos. 916-37 and 916-38. The foregoing Resolutions were 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Bankston, “Aye”. Commissioner 

Beck and Commissioner Mackey were absent. Total present – 6. Total absent – 2. Total 

“Aye” votes – 6.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

19 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

  

Chairman Bankston asked for announcements from members of the 

Commission. 

 

Commissioner Graham announced this Saturday at 8:00 am he will be joined by 

City Councilman Chip Henderson and several Lookout Valley Lions Club volunteers to 

fix a leaking roof for an elderly woman living on Browns Ferry Road. He welcomed 

anyone else that might be interested in helping.  

 

Commissioner Smedley reported that the joint community meeting she held with 

City Councilman Larry Grohn on Monday regarding growth in their districts was well 

attended. She thanked John Bridger, Executive Director for the Regional Planning 

Agency, for his presentation at the meeting. She announced that on Tuesday, October 

4th at 6 pm, she will be hosting a joint dinner for Commission members and their 

spouses, and School Board members. She noted that it would be an opportunity for 

Commissioners to get to know the newly elected School Board members.  

 

Commissioner Smedley spoke about the Education Summit hosted by the State 

Delegation yesterday. She reported that Tennessee Education Commissioner Dr. 

Candice McQueen spoke at the Summit, and offered a lot of advice regarding 

education. She noted that all the State Representatives attended the meeting. She also 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

20 

 

encouraged everyone to read the Times Free Press news article in today’s paper 

regarding the event. 

 

Mayor Coppinger reported that he also participated in the Education Summit, and 

stated that he enjoyed the dialogue regarding education. He also announced that the 

County Fair is taking place this weekend at Chester Frost Park, and encouraged 

everyone to attend.  

 

Mayor Coppinger announced that the 2017 Comprehensive Annual Budget 

Report (CABR) will be available on the County’s website today. A copy of the report was 

filed in the Clerk’s office. 

 

Mayor Coppinger spoke about the County jail, and the recent news stories about 

ending privatization in jails. He noted that he intends to hold a workshop to discuss 

whether privatization is an advantage to Hamilton County, and to get feedback from the 

Sheriff’s Office and the taxpayers. He clarified that jails cannot be compared to prisons, 

as the rules governing them are very different.   

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Bankston asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There 

were none. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

SEPTEMBER 21, 2016 
 

21 

 

 There being no further business, Chairman Bankston declared the meeting in 

recess until Wednesday, September 28, 2016 at 9:30 AM. 

 

       
 
      Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved: 
 
   

________  
Date  Clerk’s Initials 

































No. 1016-1 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
October 5, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
  A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BONDS AND OATHS OF 
NOTARIES PREVIOUSLY ELECTED, THE OATH OF CHAIRMAN OF 
THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS, THE 
OATHS OF DEPUTY ASSESSORS OF PROPERTY, AND THE OATHS 
OF DEPUTY SHERIFFS. 

   
 
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
“HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS,  said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “REPORT FROM THE OFFICE 
OF THE COUNTY CLERK” have given approved bonds for the office of 
Notary Public and have taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS,  said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the person 

named on the attached listing labeled “OATH OF CHAIRMAN OF THE 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS” has taken the oath 
of office; and 

 
WHEREAS,  said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “OATHS OF DEPUTY 
ASSESSORS OF PROPERTY” have taken the oath of office; and 

 
WHEREAS,  said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled “OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS” have taken the oath of office; and 

 



 

 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the attached listing labeled “HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” are hereby approved as applicants to be 
submitted to the Secretary of State; and 

 
2. That the persons named on the attached listing labeled “REPORT FROM THE 

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY CLERK” relative to bonds given for the position 
of Notary Public are hereby approved for such and the bonds are accepted and the 
oaths therefor are approved as taken; and 

 
3. That the person named on the attached listing labeled “OATH OF CHAIRMAN 

OF THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS” is 
accepted and the oath therefor is approved as taken; and 

 
4. That the persons named on the attached listing labeled “OATHS OF DEPUTY 

ASSESSORS OF PROPERTY” are accepted and the oaths therefor are 
approved as taken; and 

 
5. That the persons named on the attached listing labeled “OATHS OF DEPUTY 

SHERIFFS” are accepted and the oaths therefor are approved as taken; and 
 

6. That each such person named on any listing hereinabove mentioned (which listing 
is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby deemed to have 
been individually considered according to the particular matter relating thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 5, 2016 

  
Date 

 





































No. 1016-2 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
October 5, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT THE BID OF JAKE MARSHALL SERVICE, INC. FOR 
$51,925.00, FOR THE INSTALLATION OF A VARIABLE REFRIGERANT VOLUME 
(VRF) TYPE SPLIT HVAC SYSTEM AT THE HAMILTON COUNTY COURTS 
BUILDING FOR THE HAMILTON COUNTY ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT AND 
AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO 
IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS,  a bid was received in response to public advertisement for the Hamilton County 

Courts Building HVAC Modifications Project, for the Hamilton County 
Engineering Department; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bid from Jake Marshall Service, Inc. amounting to $51,925.00 was the only 

bid received, but said bid is deemed reasonable; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Jake Marshall Service, Inc. amounting to $51,925.00 for the installation of a 
Variable Refrigerant Volume (VRF) type split HVAC system at the Hamilton County Courts 
Building, for the Hamilton County Engineering Department is hereby accepted; said bid being 
the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts 
necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 5, 2016 

  
Date 

 





















































No. 1016-3 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
October 5, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO EXECUTE A DEED 
CONVEYING HAMILTON COUNTY’S INTEREST IN CERTAIN PROPERTY ACQUIRED 
THROUGH A PREVIOUS DELINQUENT TAX SALE AND JOINTLY OWNED BY HAMILTON 
COUNTY AND THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA. 
 
WHEREAS, On June 16, 2014, Hamilton County and the City of Chattanooga jointly acquired 

property through a delinquent tax sale, identified as State Tax Map No. 146K-E-
012, also known as 2207 Ivy Street; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Chattanooga (City) has requested that Hamilton County convey its 

interest in said property to the City in order to facilitate economic development 
opportunities through the advertisement and issuance of a Request for Proposals 
(RFP) to enhance the area and return said property productively to the tax rolls, in 
accordance with the attached letter; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Tennessee Code Annotated 67-5-2509(d)(1) provides that Hamilton County may 

convey property to other governmental entities which Hamilton County has 
obtained through delinquent tax sales upon certification that the property is needed 
for a public purpose and is subject to condemnation under the power of eminent 
domain; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners’ Delinquent Tax Property Special 

Committee has reviewed said request and it is the recommendation of said Special 
Committee that the request be granted. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 

 That the request made by the City of Chattanooga that Hamilton County convey its interest in 
jointly-owned property, located at 2207 Ivy Street, also identified as State Tax Map No. 146K-
E-012, be granted pursuant to T.C.A. 67-5-2509(d)(1) and that the County Mayor is hereby 
authorized to execute a deed conveying Hamilton County’s interest in said property to the City 
of Chattanooga, in accordance with the attached letter. 

 



 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 
 
  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 5, 2016 

  
Date 

 























No. 1016-4 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
October 5, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                            (P.C. NO. 2016-091) 
   (Formerly Res 716-28) 
   (Formerly Res 816-31) 
 

A RESOLUTION TO REZONE FROM A-1 AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT & R-2 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT TO R-1 SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 

DISTRICT, PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 3503, 3603 & 3635 OOLTEWAH-
RINGGOLD ROAD 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Waters-Holland, LLC petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County 
Regional Planning Commission to rezone from A-1 Agricultural District & R-2 Residential 
District to R-1 Single Family Residential District, properties located at 3503, 3603 & 3635 
Ooltewah-Ringgold Road, and said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that 
this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Waters-Holland, LLC requested that the County Commission consider 
said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton 
County that the County Commission would hold a public hearing on July 20, 2016, concerning 
the passage of this Resolution as required by law, at which time hearing was deferred to 
August 17, 2016. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended to 
rezone from A-1 Agricultural District & R-2 Residential District to R-1 Single Family 
Residential District, properties located at 3503, 3603 & 3635 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.  Three 
unplatted tracts of land located 3503, 3603, and 3635 Ooltewah Ringgold Road being the 
properties described in Deed Book 1962, Page 740, Deed Book 5717, Page 731, and Deed 
Book 7391, Page 186, ROHC.  Tax Map 150-075 thru 077 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 5, 2016 

  
Date 

 













No. 1016-5 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
October 5, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
                                                                                                            (P.C. NO. 2016-092) 
   (Formerly Res 716-29) 
   (Formerly Res 816-32 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING A SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS PERMIT FOR A 
RESIDENTIAL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT OF PROPERTIES AT 

3503, 3603 & 3635 OOLTEWAH-RINGGOLD ROAD 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Waters-Holland, LLC petitioned the Chattanooga-Hamilton County 
Regional Planning Commission to grant a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential 
Planned Unit Development of properties at 3503, 3603 & 3635 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road, and 
said Planning Commission after hearing recommended that this petition be approved; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Waters-Holland, LLC requested that the County Commission consider 
said petition and notice has been published in a newspaper in general circulation in Hamilton 
County that the County Commission would hold a public hearing on July 20, 2016, concerning 
the passage of this Resolution as required by law, at which time hearing was deferred to 
August 17, 2016. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED:  That the zoning regulations of Hamilton County be amended 
granting a Special Exceptions Permit for a Residential Planned Unit Development of 
properties at 3503, 3603 & 3635 Ooltewah-Ringgold Road.  Three unplatted tracts of land 
located 3503, 3603, and 3635 Ooltewah Ringgold Road being the properties described in 
Deed Book 1962, Page 740, Deed Book 5717, Page 731, and Deed Book 7391, Page 186, 
ROHC.  Tax Map 150-075 thru 077 as shown on the attached map. 
 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 5, 2016 

  
Date 

 















No. 1016-6 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
October 5, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT A CONTINUATION CONTRACT BETWEEN THE 
SHERIFF’S OFFICE AND THE STATE OF TENNESSEE’S DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN 
SERVICES FOR A CHILD SUPPORT PROGRAM FOR THE PERIOD JULY 1, 2016 
THROUGH JUNE 30, 2017. 
 
WHEREAS, the Tennessee Department of Human Services established a Child Support 
Program to comply with the requirements of the Title IV-D of the Social Security Act, as 
enacted by Congress in 1973; 
  
WHEREAS, the Tennessee Department of Human Services is entering into a contract with the 
Sheriff’s Office for performing service of all IV-D related process papers and attachments 
properly issued by Tennessee Judicial Authorities; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Tennessee Department of Human Services has agreed to pay $212,649 (or 
66%) of the total cost of $322,195; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Sheriff’s Office has already budgeted for it’s required match of $109,546 (or 
34%) of the total cost of $322,195. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
The contract is approved and accepted between the Sheriff’s Office and the State of Tennessee. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 5, 2016 

  
Date 

 



No. 1016-7 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
October 5, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF CUSTOM TRUCK AND BODY WORKS, 
INC. FOR TWO (2) TYPE I MEDIUM DUTY AMBULANCES AMOUNTING TO 
$404,918.00 FOR EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for two (2) Type I 

Medium Duty Ambulances for Emergency Medical Services; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc. amounting to $404,918.00 

was considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Custom Truck and Body Works, Inc. for two (2) Type I Medium Duty 
Ambulances amounting to $404,918.00 for Emergency Medical Services is hereby accepted, 
said bid being the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any 
contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 5, 2016 

  
Date 

 



























































































(2) Type I Medium Duty Ambulances

Emergency Medical Services
September 9, 2016 10:30 a.m.

Vendors:

Custom Truck 
&Body Works, Inc.

Lee-Smith Inc.
Taylor Made 
Ambulances

Total Bid Price: $404,918.00 $417,608.00 $424,230.00

Delivery:

120-150 days 
after receipt of 

chassis

190 - 230 days 
ARO

90-120 days 
from receipt 
of chassis

Terms:

C.O.D.
Net due 10 
days after 
delivery

C.O.D.

Request For Bids:

Newspaper Ad: 8/19/2016
Vendor Notification: 223
Vendor Response: 3
Budgeted: Capital Outlay



No. 1016-8 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
October 5, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SOFTWARE UPDATE AND SUPPORT CONTRACT FOR 
CITYWORKS FROM AZTECA SYSTEMS, INC. FOR ONE (1) YEAR, BEGINNING NOVEMBER 
11, 2016, THROUGH NOVEMBER 10, 2017, FOR THE GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION 
SYSTEMS DEPARTMENT AMOUNTING TO $41,250.00 AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, a quotation was received for a one (1) year update and support contract for 

Cityworks Software used by the Geographic Information Systems Department and 
other agencies; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Azteca Systems, Inc. is considered a sole source for this service; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the quotation from Azteca Systems, Inc. amounting to $41,250.00 was considered 

reasonable; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the quotation from Azteca Systems, Inc. for a one (1) year update and support  contract for 
Cityworks Software, beginning November 11, 2016, through November 10, 2017, amounting to 
$41,250.00 for the Geographic Information Systems Department is hereby accepted, and authorizing 
the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 5, 2016 

  
Date 

 



From: Johnsey, Kristen
To: Burley, Janie
Subject: Cityworks Breakdown
Date: Friday, September 16, 2016 3:11:24 PM

Janie,
 
Below is a breakdown of the Cityworks billing.
 

Cityworks Site License** $18,750
Cityworks Server (WWTA) $7,500
Cityworks Server (Chattanooga) $7,500
Storeroom (Chattanooga) $7,500
Total $41,250

** The Site License fee is divided equally between WWTA and the City of Chattanooga.

Reimbursed by WWTA $16,875
 
Reimbursed by City of
Chattanooga $24,375

Please let me know if you have any questions.  Thanks!
 
 
Kristen Johnsey, GISP
GIS Manager
----------------------------------------------
Hamilton County GIS
1250 Market St., Suite 1010
Chattanooga, TN  37402
Phone: 423.209.7760
Fax: 423.209.7761
Email: kristenj@hamiltontn.gov

 

mailto:/O=HAMILTON COUNTY/OU=EXCH/CN=RECIPIENTS/CN=KRISTENJ
mailto:JanieB@HamiltonTN.gov
mailto:kristenj@hamiltontn.gov












No. 1016-9 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
October 5, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO ACCEPT THE BID OF DELTA STRUCTURAL TECHNOLOGY, 
LLC, FOR $321,699.00, FOR THE REPAIRS AT THE HAMILTON COUNTY PARKING 
GARAGE FOR THE ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS,  bids were received in response to public advertisement for the Hamilton County 

Parking Garage repairs, for the Engineering Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Delta Structural Technology, LLC, amounting to $321,699.00 was 

considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Delta Structural Technology, LLC, amounting to $321,699.00 for the repairs at 
the Hamilton County Parking Garage for the Engineering Department is hereby accepted, said 
bid being the lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any 
contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 5, 2016 

  
Date 

 





















September 13, 2016 

 

Ms. Gail Roppo, Director 
Hamilton County Purchasing Department 
455 N. Highland Park 
Chattanooga, Tennessee 37404 
 

Subject: Newell Tower Parking Deck Repairs 
  Hamilton County Project No:  15-905 
 
 
Dear Ms. Roppo: 
 
Bids for the above mentioned project were received by the Hamilton County Purchasing 
Department at 2:00 p.m. on Thursday, September 01, 2016.  The total bid prices for each bidder 
are shown below.  Itemized prices are listed in the attached Bid Tabulation and Summary of 
Proposals. 
 
 Delta Structural Technology, LLC $321,699.00 

 J.J Morley Enterprises, Inc.  $443,500.00 

The bid of Delta Structural Technology is considered to be competitive and in line with present 
construction pricing levels.  Bennett and Pless has verified that Delta Structural Technology, LLC 
is licensed in the State of Tennessee to construct the work as bid.  Therefore, it is recommended 
that the contract is awarded to Delta Structural Technology, LLC. 

Sincerely, 

BENNETT & PLESS, INC. 

 

Thomas F. Ireland, PE 
Engineer  

TFI/rgp 

Attachment 

 

  

  

rpuryear
New Stamp

rpuryear
New Stamp

rpuryear
New Stamp







































No. 1016-10 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
October 5, 2016 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 
RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF TWENTY FIVE THOUSAND 
DOLLARS ($25,000.00) FROM LINE OF CREDIT/BOND FUNDS TO ASSIST WITH THE 
CONSTRUCTION OF A RESTROOM FACILITY AND CONCESSION FOR THE 
ATHLETIC COMPLEX AT EAST HAMILTON MIDDLE/HIGH SCHOOL. 
 
WHEREAS, by Resolutions 515-14 and 116-16, the expenditure of Sixty Thousand Dollars 

($60,000.00) and Forty Thousand Dollars ($40,000.00) respectively, for a total of 
One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00), was approved to assist with the 
construction of a restroom facility and concession for the athletic complex at East 
Hamilton Middle/High School; and 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Turner-Smedley has expressed a need for an additional Twenty 

Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) of line of credit/bond funds to complete the 
construction of said facility; and 

 
WHEREAS, there are insufficient discretionary bond funds allotted to Commissioner Turner-

Smedley to facilitate this additional expenditure; and 
 
WHEREAS,  Commissioner Turner-Smedley desires to exchange Twenty Five Thousand 

Dollars ($25,000.00) of  general fund discretionary money allotted to District 
Seven for Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) of line of credit/bond 
funds for this project; and 

 
WHEREAS, the FY16-17 general fund discretionary expense budget allotted to Commissioner 

Turner-Smedley is reduced by Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00); and  
 
WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners desires to allocate Twenty Five Thousand Dollars 

($25,000.00) from line of credit/bond funds to assist in the completion of 
constructing said facility; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Hamilton County Board of Education has approved this project; and 



 

 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said funding to be in the best interest of the 

citizens of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

(1) That Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) of general fund discretionary funds allotted 
to Commissioner Turner-Smedley be exchanged for Twenty Five Thousand Dollars 
($25,000.00) of line of credit/bond funds. 
 

(2) That the FY16-17 general fund expense budget be reduced by Twenty Five Thousand Dollars 
($25,000.00). 
 

(3) That the expenditure of an additional Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) from line of 
credit/bond funds be approved to assist in the completion of constructing a restroom facility 
and concession at East Hamilton Middle/High School. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 
 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 
 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

October 5, 2016 

  
Date 

 


	10-5-16 Public Agenda
	1016-_S_Minutes_September 14 2016 Recessed_2559_09-14-16 Recessed
	1016-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session - September 14, 2016_2560_09-14-16 Agenda
	STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session

	1016-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - September 14, 2016_2561_09-21-16 Regular
	1016-_S_Report_Trustee Monthly Report August 2016_2546_August 2016 Monthly
	1016-_S_Report_Trustee Excess Fee Report August 2016_2547_August 2016 Excess Fee
	1016-_S_Report_Criminal Court Clerks Report  April May June July and August 2016_2549_Criminal Court Clerk Reports - April - May - June - July  and August 2016
	1016-1_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_2556_10-05-16
	1016-1_S_Bill Knowles_Notary_2556_10-05-16A
	1016-2_R_Todd Leamon_Hamilton County Courts Building HVAC Modifications_2555_Res HVAC Modifications
	1016-2_S_Todd Leamon_Hamilton County Courts Building HVAC Modifications_2555_HVAC Supporting Docs
	1016-3_R_Todd Leamon_County to convey its interest in jointly owned property to the City_2558_Res. Ivy Street 10.05.2016
	1016-3_S_Todd Leamon_County to convey its interest in jointly owned property to the City_2558_Attachments Ivy Street
	1016-4_R_Zoning_Zoning_2564_Oct #1
	1016-4_S_Zoning_Zoning_2564_091
	1016-5_R_Zoning_Zoning_2565_Oct #2
	1016-5_S_Zoning_Zoning_2565_092
	1016-6_R_Sheriff Hammond_DHS Grant Approval_2552_HCSO DHS Grant FY 2017
	1016-7_R_Lee Norris_Type I Medium Duty Ambulances_2548_RES 2016 Ambulances
	1016-7_S_Lee Norris_Type I Medium Duty Ambulances_2548_Supporting Docs - Ambulances
	1016-8_R_Albert Kiser_Cityworks Software Update and Support Contract_2550_RES Cityworks 10-5-16
	1016-8_S_Albert Kiser_Cityworks Software Update and Support Contract_2550_Cityworks Supporting docs
	1016-9_R_Todd Leamon_Hamilton County Parking Garage Repairs_2562_1016-9
	1016-9_S_Todd Leamon_Newell Tower Parking Deck Repairs_2562_Newell Tower Supp Documents
	1016-10_R_Commissioner Turner-Smedley_Rest Room Facility for East Hamilton_2566_Res for Comm Smedley



